Case 2019AP001780

**Brief of Appellant** 

Filed 01-02-2020

## RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-02-2020

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2019AP1780-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

FRANK P. SMOGOLESKI,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO ADMIT FORMER TESTIMONY AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO ADMIT OTHER-ACTS EVIDENCE, BOTH ENTERED IN WAUKESHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE LAURA F. LAU, PRESIDING

### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SCOTT E. ROSENOW Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083736

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

the preliminary hearing testimony 1. Defendant-Respondent Frank P. Smogoleski's friend admissible at Smogoleski's trial?

The circuit court answered "no."

This Court should answer "yes" and reverse.

2. Is the State's evidence of Smogoleski's previous sexual assault admissible at trial as other-acts evidence?

The circuit court answered "no."

This Court should answer "yes" and reverse.

### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State does not request oral argument because the briefs should adequately set forth the facts and legal principles. Publication of this Court's decision might be warranted.

#### INTRODUCTION

Smogoleski had penis-to-vagina contact with an unconscious, intoxicated teenage girl at an underage drinking party. The State charged him with second-degree sexual assault as a result.

The only eyewitness to the crime was Smogoleski's friend, Jon, who entered the bedroom where the sexual assault was happening. Jon testified about the assault at a preliminary hearing, where defense counsel extensively crossexamined him. Jon died about a month after the preliminary hearing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The State's brief uses two pseudonyms. "Jon" is the person who is referred to as J.K. or J.J.K. in the record. "Emily" is the person who is referred to as E.E.K. in the record.

Case 2019AP001780 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-02-2020 Page 8 of 40

The State filed two motions that are relevant to this appeal: (1) a motion to introduce Jon's preliminary hearing testimony at trial, and (2) a motion to introduce other-acts evidence about a similar sexual assault that Smogoleski committed against another teenage girl at a different party.

The circuit court denied both motions. It determined that using Jon's testimony at trial would violate Smogoleski's Sixth Amendment constitutional right to confront his accusers. Regarding the other motion, the court thought that the probative value of the other-acts evidence would not substantially outweigh its risk of unfair prejudice.

The court erred on both points. The Sixth Amendment's Confrontation Clause allows the State to use Jon's preliminary hearing testimony at trial. Defense counsel had an adequate opportunity to cross-examine Jon at the preliminary hearing. That cross-examination satisfies Smogoleski's right to confrontation. As for the other motion, the State's other-acts evidence was admissible, and the court reached a contrary conclusion by applying the wrong legal standard. Other-acts evidence is inadmissible if its risk of unfair prejudice would substantially outweigh its probative value. The court applied that balancing test backwards, requiring the probative value to substantially outweigh the risk of unfair prejudice.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A high school senior, Jon, hosted an underage drinking party at his parents' house in Elm Grove on Saturday, June 23, 2018, while his parents were out of town. (R. 56:5–7.) Emily, who was then 17 years old and a friend of Jon, was at the party. (R. 56:6–7.)

Later in the night, Jon became concerned about Emily because she "had too much to drink and she fell off the stairs." (R. 56:7.) So, Jon helped Emily into his sister's bedroom and

Case 2019AP001780 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-02-2020 Page 9 of 40

told her to go to sleep. (R. 56:7–8.) Emily was fully clothed and seemed to be asleep and passed out when Jon left the bedroom. (R. 56:11.)

About ten minutes later, one of Jon's friends told him that Smogoleski had gone into the bedroom where Emily was. (R. 56:13-14.) Jon responded by going into the bedroom. (R. 56:14.)

When Jon entered the bedroom, he saw Smogoleski lying on top of Emily, slightly more toward her left side. (R. 56:15.) Emily was unconscious. (R. 56:44.) She "did not have a shirt on," "[h]er pants and underwear were down around her ankles," and "[h]er legs were spread." (R. 56:15.) Smogoleski's pants were down and he did not have underwear on. (R. 56:17.) Jon pulled Smogoleski off Emily and helped get his pants up. (R. 56:19, 27.) Smogoleski told Jon to stop and tried to pull away. (R. 56:64.) Jon removed Smogoleski from the bedroom and tried to find someone to take him home, but nobody would. (R. 56:19.)

Smogoleski went to the basement and told Jon that he and Emily "were going to fuck." (R. 56:27.) Smogoleski "passed out" on the basement floor. (R. 56:19.) During a subsequent conversation on Snapchat, Smogoleski told Emily that they might have had sex the night of the party and that he was unsure whether they had done so. (R. 56:53.)

On Monday, June 25, 2018, Elm Grove Detective Craig Mayer interviewed Jon about the sexual assault. (R. 56:49–50.) The detective interviewed Jon two more times to figure out where Smogoleski's penis was in relation to Emily's vagina during the assault. (R. 56:31–32, 66–68.) During the second interview, Jon said that Smogoleski's penis was by,

but not penetrating, Emily's vagina. (R. 56:64.)<sup>2</sup> Jon repeated that information during the third interview and said that Smogoleski's penis was touching Emily's leg. (R. 56:68.) The detective interpreted Jon's use of the word "by" to mean that Smogoleski's penis was "outside the vagina but still touching" it. (R. 56:66.) Jon, in fact, used the word "by" to mean that the penis was touching the vagina. (R. 56:36, 40.)

Detective Mayer also spoke to Emily, who told him that she drank "quite a bit" at the party. (R. 56:50.) She remembered going into Jon's sister's bedroom around 11:00 or 12:00 the night of the party, but she did not remember anything from that point until she woke up around 2:00 or 2:30 a.m. and got a drink of water. (R. 56:50–51.) Emily further said that when she awoke the next morning, her vagina and hips felt sore, and "she found scratches on her belly." (R. 56:52.) She did not have the soreness and scratches the night before. (R. 56:52.)

Detective Mayer also interviewed Jon's mother. (R. 56:54.) She said that she found a condom wrapper in the bedroom where Emily had slept. (R. 56:54-55.)

On June 26, 2018, the State charged Smogoleski with one count of second-degree sexual assault for having sexual contact with Emily while she was too intoxicated to give consent, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(cm). (R. 1:1.) Smogoleski waived his right to a preliminary hearing. (R. 54:3-4.) After he received discovery, however, he and the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Technically, Jon likely meant that Smogoleski's penis was by Emily's vulva, but this difference does not matter. The statutory definition of "intimate parts" includes the word "vagina," which this Court has construed "to mean the female external genitalia, or vulva." State v. Morse, 126 Wis. 2d 1, 5, 374 N.W.2d 388 (Ct. App. 1985). This brief uses the term "vagina" to be consistent with the testimony.

Case 2019AP001780 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-02-2020 Page 11 of 40

State agreed that the circuit court should hold a preliminary hearing. (R. 55:2.)

The circuit court held a preliminary hearing in September 2018. (R. 56.) Jon and Detective Mayer testified to the facts discussed above. Defense counsel had police reports at the hearing and used them repeatedly during cross-examination of Jon and Mayer. (R. 56:20–21, 24, 26–27, 32–33, 43 (Jon), 58–59 (Mayer).) Defense counsel extensively cross-examined Jon. (R. 56:20–46.) He also cross-examined Mayer about Jon's prior statements. (R. 56:60–68.) At the end of the hearing, the circuit court bound Smogoleski over for trial. (R. 56:79.)

Jon "died the month after the [preliminary] hearing." (R. 43:1.)

In May 2019, the State filed a motion to admit Jon's preliminary hearing testimony at trial. (R. 38.) Smogoleski filed a brief opposing the motion. (R. 39.) The circuit court held a hearing on the motion and ordered letter briefs, which the parties later filed. (R. 41; 42; 60:4–5.) The circuit court entered a written decision on September 3, 2019, denying the State's motion. (R. 43.) The court determined that using Jon's preliminary hearing testimony at trial would violate Smogoleski's Sixth Amendment right to confrontation because defense counsel did not have an adequate opportunity to cross-examine Jon at the preliminary hearing. (R. 43:5–7.)

Before the circuit court's decision about use of the preliminary hearing transcript, the State filed a motion to admit other-acts evidence in October 2018. (R. 30.) The State proffered that Smogoleski performed cunnilingus on M.G., a then-16-year-old girl, when she was "passed out" on a couch at a house party after "drinking substantially." (R. 30:4–5.) That incident happened in March 2017, and M.G. reported it in late June 2018 after hearing about Smogoleski sexually assaulting Emily. (R. 30:4.)

Case 2019AP001780 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-02-2020 Page 12 of 40

Smogoleski filed a brief opposing the other-acts motion. (R. 36.)

The circuit court held a hearing on the motion and denied it. (R. 59:29.) The court stated that it had "extreme concern that the probative value would not substantially outweigh the prejudice, the danger of prejudicial effect to the Defendant and does believe that this other bad act information could also mislead the jury." (R. 59:29.) The court said that it "may reconsider this decision" depending on whether Smogoleski testifies and "how testimony comes in during the trial." (R. 59:29.) The circuit court entered a written order denying the State's other-acts motion on September 16, 2019. (R. 45.)

The State timely appealed the circuit court's orders denying the State's motion to admit Jon's preliminary hearing testimony at trial and its other-acts motion. (R. 46.)

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court independently reviews a claim involving a defendant's constitutional right to confront his accusers. *State v. Manuel*, 2005 WI 75, ¶ 25, 281 Wis. 2d 554, 697 N.W.2d 811.

This Court "will uphold a circuit court's evidentiary rulings if it examined the relevant facts, applied a proper standard of law, used a demonstrated rational process, and reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach." Pinczkowski v. Milwaukee Cty., 2005 WI 161, ¶ 15, 286 Wis.2d 339, 706 N.W.2d 642. "Whether the circuit court applied the proper legal standards, however, presents a question of law subject to independent appellate review." Id.; see also State v. Sarnowski, 2005 WI App 48, ¶ 11, 280 Wis. 2d 243, 694 N.W.2d 498 ("A trial court's admission or exclusion of evidence is a discretionary decision that we will sustain if it

Case 2019AP001780 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-02-2020 Page 13 of 40

is consistent with the law. We review *de novo* whether that decision comports with legal principles." (citation omitted)).

### ARGUMENT

- I. Jon's preliminary hearing testimony is admissible at Smogoleski's trial.
  - A. An unavailable witness's prior testimony is admissible at a criminal trial if the factfinder would have a reasonable basis for evaluating the truthfulness of the prior testimony.

"The Confrontation Clauses of the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions guarantee criminal defendants the right to confront witnesses against them." Manuel, 281 Wis.2d 554, ¶ 36 (citation omitted). Consistent with that right, "[t]estimonial hearsay statements are admissible against a criminal defendant only if the witness is unavailable and the defendant had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the witness." State v. Reinwand, 2019 WI 25, ¶ 22, 385 Wis. 2d 700, 924 N.W.2d 184 (citing Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 59 (2004)).

Here, there is no dispute that Jon's testimony at the preliminary hearing was "testimonial." See State v. Stuart, 2005 WI 47, ¶ 28, 279 Wis. 2d 659, 695 N.W.2d 259 (noting that, under Crawford, 541 U.S. at 68, prior testimony at a preliminary hearing is testimonial). There is also no dispute that Jon, who is deceased, is unavailable because "[i]ntervening death of a witness clearly satisfies the unavailability requirement." State v. Dorcey, 98 Wis. 2d 718, 722, 298 N.W.2d 213 (Ct. App. 1980), aff'd, 103 Wis. 2d 152, 307 N.W.2d 612 (1981).

So, the confrontation issue here hinges on whether Smogoleski had "a prior opportunity to cross-examine" Jon at the preliminary hearing. *Reinwand*, 385 Wis. 2d 700, ¶ 22.

Case 2019AP001780 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-02-2020 Page 14 of 40

An unavailable witness's preliminary hearing testimony may sometimes be admitted at a criminal trial. State v. Norman, 2003 WI 72, ¶ 35, 262 Wis. 2d 506, 664 N.W.2d 97. "Although cross-examination during the preliminary examination is formally limited to the issue of probable cause (plausibility), the witness's credibility often becomes a subject of inquiry." State v. Bauer, 109 Wis. 2d 204. 220-21, 325 N.W.2d 857 (1982), abrogated on other grounds by Crawford, 541 U.S. 36. "These issues overlap, allowing defense counsel to reach credibility while cross-examining as to plausibility." Id. at 221. "For example, inconsistencies in a witness's story which have been drawn out during crossexamination at the preliminary examination are not only relevant to plausibility but also work to discredit the witness." Id.

Further, "the fact that cross-examination during a preliminary hearing is limited does not necessarily render the testimony inadmissible." Norman, 262 Wis. 2d 506, ¶ 35 (citing Bauer, 109 Wis. 2d at 218). Indeed, "[i]n upholding the introduction of an unavailable witness' preliminary hearing testimony, the Supreme Court has never said that the opportunity for cross-examination afforded at the preliminary hearing must be identical with that required at trial." Bauer, 109 Wis. 2d at 218 (alteration in original) (citation omitted).

Rather, "when a witness is unavailable for trial, hearsay evidence may be admitted when there has been 'substantial compliance with the purposes behind the confrontation requirement. Those purposes are satisfied when the trier of fact has a reasonable basis for evaluating the truthfulness of the prior statement." Norman, 262 Wis. 2d 506, ¶ 36 (quoting Bauer, 109 Wis. 2d at 214; and citing Ohio v. Roberts, 448 U.S. 56, 64–65 (1980), abrogated on other grounds by Crawford, 541 U.S. 36). "The purpose of confrontation and cross-examination is to test both the

Case 2019AP001780 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-02-2020 Page 15 of 40

witness's memory and credibility in the presence of the fact finder." *Id*.

In other words, an unavailable witness's prior testimony is admissible at trial if the defense lawyer "was not 'significantly limited in any way in the scope or nature of his cross-examination." Roberts, 448 U.S. at 71 (quoting California v. Green, 399 U.S. 149, 166 (1970)).

In Roberts, the Supreme Court held that the defendant had an adequate opportunity to cross-examine a witness at a preliminary hearing such that the testimony from that hearing was admissible at trial without violating the Confrontation Clause. Roberts, 448 U.S. at 70–71. The Court reasoned that defense counsel had asked the witness many leading questions, explored the witness's memory and perception, challenged the witness's veracity, and "explore[d] the underlying events in detail." Id.

The Supreme Court in *Crawford* abrogated a different aspect of Roberts (and Bauer). "Prior to Crawford, the test applied by the Supreme Court to determine admissibility in Confrontation Clause cases was [Roberts]." State v. Doss, 2008 WI 93, ¶ 43 n.5, 312 Wis. 2d 570, 754 N.W.2d 150. "The Roberts two-prong test was unavailability coupled with an 'indicia of reliability,' defined as evidence that 'falls within a firmly rooted hearsay exception,' or has a 'particularized guarantee of trustworthiness." Id. (quoting Roberts, 448 U.S. at 66). The Crawford Court abrogated Roberts "by replacing the 'indicia of reliability' factor (for surviving a Confrontation Clause challenge once evidence is concluded to be testimonial) with the prior opportunity for cross-examination factor." Id. So, after Crawford, "the reliability analysis of Roberts/Bauer is no longer good law with respect to the admission of testimonial hearsay evidence." Stuart, 279 Wis. 2d 659, ¶ 26.

Case 2019AP001780 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-02-2020 Page 16 of 40

But the Bauer/Roberts test on the adequacy of prior cross-examination is still good law after Crawford. The Crawford Court did "not overrule or contradict" the "holding that the cross-examination that occurs at a preliminary hearing can 'afford[]...substantial compliance with the purposes behind the confrontation requirement." State v. Aaron, 218 S.W.3d 501, 517 (Mo. Ct. App. 2007) (alterations in original) (citation omitted). "Although the requisites for satisfying the Confrontation Clause have evolved since [Roberts and other cases], the [Supreme] Court's reasoning concerning cross-examination at a preliminary hearing remains valid." Commonwealth v. Wholaver, 989 A.2d 883, 904 (Pa. 2010). So, "although the reliability of a prior statement is no longer an inquiry for purposes of satisfying the Confrontation Clause, the [Roberts] Court's rationale that the preliminary hearing questioning served the function of cross-examination remains persuasive for purposes of evaluating whether Crawford's cross-examination requirement has been met." Id. at 903.

In fact, the *Crawford* Court approvingly discussed the aspect of Roberts concerning the defendant's prior crossexamination of the witness. The Crawford Court discussed Roberts and other Supreme Court cases, noting that Roberts "admitted testimony from a preliminary hearing at which the defendant had examined the witness." Crawford, 541 U.S. at 58. The Court further noted that in Roberts and those other cases, "[t]estimonial statements of witnesses absent from trial have been admitted only where the declarant is unavailable. and only where the defendant has had a prior opportunity to cross-examine." Id. at 59. The Court concluded that those "results" were faithful to the Confrontation Clause, but their "rationales" were problematic. Id. at 60. The Court noted two problems with the Roberts reliability rationale: "[i]t applies the same mode of analysis whether or not the hearsay consists of ex parte testimony," and "[i]t admits statements that do

Case 2019AP001780 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-02-2020 Page 17 of 40

consist of ex parte testimony upon a mere finding of reliability." Id.

So, "[i]t is clear from a reading of Crawford that the United States Supreme Court in fact approved of the ultimate holding in Roberts" that the witness's prior testimony was admissible at the defendant's trial. Blyden v. Virgin Islands, 53 V.I. 637, 654 n.11 (V.I. 2010), aff'd sub nom. Virgin Islands v. Blyden, 437 F. App'x 127 (3d Cir. 2011). "Crawford abrogated Roberts only with respect to Roberts's rationale that former testimony is admissible where there are adequate indicia of reliability." Id.

After Crawford, many courts have concluded that admitting preliminary hearing testimony of an unavailable witness at trial does not run afoul of the Confrontation Clause. See State v. Goins, 423 P.3d 1236, 1244 (Utah 2017) (citing cases upholding admission of prior testimony in Arkansas, California, Hawaii, Kansas, Michigan, Missouri, Nevada, New Mexico, and Oklahoma); see also Massey v. Commonwealth, 793 S.E.2d 816, 827-29 (Va. (upholding admission of preliminary hearing testimony at the defendant's trial against a Confrontation Clause challenge); State v. Mohamed, 130 P.3d 401, 403-06 (Wash. Ct. App. 2006) (same); State v. Mantz, 222 P.3d 471, 473-79 (Idaho Ct. App. 2009) (same). Courts have done so even while recognizing the limitations of cross-examining a witness before discovery has begun. See, e.g., Aaron, 218 S.W.3d at 510-11.

In short, "[w]hen a witness is unavailable to testify at trial, her testimony at a preliminary hearing or previous trial is admissible, assuming a proper opportunity for cross-examination at the previous hearing. *Crawford* did not change this well-established rule." *Mohamed*, 130 P.3d at 403.

Case 2019AP001780 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-02-2020 Page 18 of 40

# B. Jon's prior testimony is admissible at trial because Smogoleski had a prior opportunity to cross-examine him.

As explained above, an unavailable witness's prior testimony is admissible at trial if "the defendant had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the witness." Reinward, 385 Wis. 2d 700, ¶ 22 (citing *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 59). This requirement is met "when there has been 'substantial compliance with the purposes behind the confrontation requirement"—that is, "when the trier of fact has a reasonable basis for evaluating the truthfulness of the prior statement." Norman, 262 Wis. 2d 506, ¶ 36 (quoting Bauer, 109 Wis. 2d at 214); accord Roberts, 448 U.S. at 71, 73 (requiring "substantial compliance with the purposes behind the confrontation requirement" and "a satisfactory basis for evaluating the truth of the prior statement" (quoting *United* States v. Green, 408 U.S. 125, 166, 216 (1972))). Relatedly, the defendant must not have been "significantly limited in any way in the scope or nature of his cross-examination." Roberts. 448 U.S. at 71 (citation omitted).

Both of those tests are met here. First, the cross-examination of Jon at the preliminary hearing would give a jury a reasonable basis (or, in the words of *Roberts*, a satisfactory basis) for evaluating his truthfulness. Defense counsel thoroughly cross-examined Jon about several topics bearing on his credibility, including his ability to see the assault and his prior inconsistent statements to police. Second, the circuit court did not *significantly* limit the cross-examination of Jon at the preliminary hearing. Although the court sustained objections to several of defense counsel's questions for Jon, counsel still got answers to similar questions. Counsel was therefore able to elicit the testimony that he was seeking.

Case 2019AP001780 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-02-2020 Page 19 of 40

1. The cross-examination of Jon at the preliminary hearing would give a jury a reasonable basis for evaluating his prior statements.

At the preliminary hearing, Smogoleski's lawyer explored many issues that affected Jon's credibility. Smogoleski's counsel engaged in a robust cross-examination, having the benefit at the hearing of the police reports that recorded Jon's statements. (R. 56:20–21, 24, 26–27, 32–33, 43.) This cross-examination will give the jury a reasonable basis for assessing the truthfulness of Jon's statements.

First, Smogoleski's lawyer questioned Jon's ability to see the sexual assault. Counsel questioned Jon multiple times about his physical distance from the assault, and Jon said that he was about five or six feet away from Smogoleski and Emily. (R. 56:21, 40.) On direct examination, the prosecutor elicited Jon's testimony that no light except moonlight was penetrating the bedroom when he saw Smogoleski on top of Emily. (R. 56:16.) On cross-examination, defense counsel asked Jon whether any lights were on in the bedroom and questioned whether the moonlight was enough for him to see what was happening. (R. 56:21.) Counsel asked Jon whether he was drunk or had been drinking on the night in question, and Jon said no. (R. 56:42.) Counsel also asked Jon whether he was in a "vantage point" in the bedroom to see any genitalia. (R. 56:41.) Jon said that that Smogoleski's penis "would have been touching" Emily's vagina because "[h]is hips were over hers." (R. 56:41.) Indeed, on direct examination, Jon admitted that he thought Smogoleski's penis was touching Emily's vagina simply because of the way that Smogoleski was positioned on top of her. (R. 56:18.)

Second, counsel elicited a lot of testimony from Jon that suggested no intercourse happened between Smogoleski and Emily. Counsel got Jon to admit that Smogoleski was lying more toward Emily's left side and that Smogoleski and Emily Case 2019AP001780 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-02-2020 Page 20 of 40

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