RECEIVED
06-08-2020
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEAL DISTRICT II

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

V.

FRANK P. SMOGOLESKI,

Defendant-Respondent. Appeal No. 2019AP001780

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO ADMIT FORMER TESTIMONY AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO ADMIT OTHER ACTS EVIDENCE, BOTH ENTERED IN WAUKESHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HON. LAURA F. LAU PRESIDING Circuit Court Case No. 2018CF000968

RESPONSE BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

Bucher Law Group, LLC. Paul E. Bucher Attorney for Defendant-Respondent State Bar No.: 1014958

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

Argument

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT THE PRELIMNARY HEARING TESTIMONY OF JON SHOULD BE EXCLUDED AS IT DENIED SMOGOLESKI SUBSTANTIAL COMPLIANCE UNDER THE CONFRONTATION CLAUSE OF THE CONSTITUTION AND HIS COUNSEL WAS SIGNIFICANTLY LIMITED IN THE CROSS-EXAMINATION OF JON.

The State argues that the Circuit Court erred by excluding the preliminary hearing testimony of Jon. The essence of the State's argument is that Smogoleski had amble opportunity to conduct cross-examination of Jon during the preliminary hearing, which included delving into the credibility of that testimony. In support of its argument, the State relies on the length of that testimony under cross-examination. Unfortunately, it is not the length of the cross-examination or the number of questions asked, it is the content of that examination and whether or not there was substantial compliance with the rights of the confrontation clause set forth in the Constitution. this case, Smogoleski was significantly limited in his ability to cross-examine Jon which was stated specifically on the record by the Circuit Court throughout the proceedings.

To begin, Smogoleski agrees with the State that the preliminary hearing testimony of Jon was testimonial.

Page 11 of 25

Plaintiff-Appellant Br. at 7. Smogoleski further agrees that the issue at hand is whether Smogoleski had sufficient opportunity to confront Jon during the preliminary hearing.

The State initially relies on State v. Norman, 2003 WI 72, 262 Wis. 2d 506, 664 N.W.2d 97 to support its argument that Jon's preliminary hearing testimony should be admissible. Norman, however, is factually different from the case at bar. In Norman, the preliminary hearing testimony of the unavailable witness left very little room for cross-examination as to credibility. Id. at ¶17-18, 262 Wis. 2d at 517-518, 664 N.W.2d at 103. In fact, the testimony at issue related to the purchase of a boat, the documents associated with that purchase and the amount the witness paid. Id. The defense in Norman asked only three questions because the testimony itself was essentially foundation for the admission of documents associated with a particular transaction. Id. The defendant in Norman was not denied a right to confront the witness because there were no issues of credibility to be attacked.

The State next relies on *Ohio v. Roberts*, 448 U.S. 56, 100 S. Ct. 2531 (1980). The State's reliance is based on its argument that Smogoleski, through counsel, was not

"significantly limited" in his cross-examination during the preliminary hearing. Smogoleski disagrees.

As argued in his Circuit Court brief and at oral argument in the Circuit Court, the court specifically stated on more than one occasion that it was limiting Smogoleski's counsel in his cross-examination and in the scope of the preliminary hearing.

As it did in the Circuit Court, the State relies on State v. Bauer, 109 Wis. 2d 204, 325 N.W.2d 857 (1982). Specifically, it relies on the following: "[w]hen unusual circumstances exist, the test for determining the admissibility of an unavailable declarant's prior statement is whether the purposes behind the confrontation clause have been satisfied." Id. at 219, 325 N.W.2d at 865. The State believes that Smogoleski's counsel was not hindered in his cross-examination of Jon and that he had sufficient opportunity in that cross-examination to afford a reasonable jury with enough testimony/cross-examination to determine credibility and any underlying reason for deception by Jon in his statements to police and his testimony.

Smogoleski still believes that the most accurate case to apply in this case is $State\ v.\ Stuart,\ 2005\ WI\ 47,\ 279$

While Smogoleski quoted Stuart in his Circuit Court brief, is worth repeating here. "In Wisconsin, a defendant has a statutory right at a preliminary hearing to cross-examine witnesses against him. Wis. Stat. §970.03(5).

However, the scope of that cross-examination is limited to issues of plausibility, not credibility. State ex rel.

Huser v. Rasmussen, 84 Wis. 2d 600, 614, 267 N.W.2d 285

(1978). This is because the preliminary hearing 'is intended to be a summary proceeding to determine essential or basic facts' relating to probably cause, not a 'full evidentiary trial on the issue of guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.' State v. Dunn, 121 Wis. 2d 389, 396-97, 359 N.W.2d 151 (1984)." Id. at ¶ 30, 279 Wis. 2d at 673, 695 N.W. 2d at 265. (Emphasis added).

"Cross examination at a preliminary hearing is not to be used 'for the purpose of exploring the general trustworthiness of the witness.' Huser, 84 Wis. 2d at 614. Indeed, '[t]hat kind of attack is off limits in a preliminary hearing setting.' State v. Sturgeon, 231 Wis. 2d 487, 499, 605 N.W.2d 589 (Ct. App. 1999). When this restriction is enforced, as it was in the present case, and the State attempts to use the preliminary hearing testimony at a later trial, a Confrontation Clause problem arises."

Id. at ¶31, 279 Wis. 2d at 674, 695 N.W.2d at 266.
(Emphasis added).

The Circuit Court, specifically Judge Lau, had the benefit of having presided over the preliminary hearing, as well as being the Circuit Court judge that ruled on the State's motion to admit Jon's preliminary hearing testimony. Judge Lau was certainly aware of her rulings during Jon's preliminary hearing testimony. The State addresses varies objections and how the sustaining of those objections did not diminish its claim that Smogoleski's counsel was not significantly hindered in his crossexamination of Jon. Conveniently, the State fails to point out the number of times that the Circuit Court specifically stated the purpose of the preliminary hearing and that it

was limiting the questions counsel for Smogoleski could ask.

As with the above case law, Smogoleski argued the Circuit Court's statements in support of his objection to the State's attempt to admit Jon's preliminary hearing testimony in his Circuit Court brief. Again, it is necessary to re-quote those statements from the record here.

Most significantly, at one point during the preliminary hearing, the State argued as follows regarding cross-examination by Smogoleski's counsel: "I think it appears that Attorney Bucher is trying to get into the credibility of witnesses, not plausibility." R. 55:43-44. It is clear that even the State recognized that Smogoleski was, even though counsel tried, limited in his ability to challenge Jon's credibility during the preliminary hearing. In fact, Smogoleski's counsel tried to argue plausibility as the basis for some of his questions as a means to continue his cross-examination of Jon's credibility. These attempts were shut down by the court:

"THE COURT: And we don't need to be more argumentative.

This is a preliminary hearing, which is somewhat of a

fact-finding mission. We know that, but with specific

parameters. So it is not going to become argumentative.

This isn't a trial with trial standards of crossexamination."

MR. BUCHER: I understand that.

MR. THURSTON: Thank you, ma'am.

THE COURT: So the witness answered the question and now, like I said, you are going into more of a trial cross-examination question.

MR. BUCHER: Judge -

THE COURT: So I am going to sustain the objection.

MR. BUCHER: But we are going on plausibility. He has indicated under oath today that his penis was touching the vagina. He has indicated twice previously, and I haven't started on the second time, that that did not occur. That —

THE COURT: Because — just a second. He answered. I know it is not necessarily the answer that you want to hear, perhaps, and I understand that you want to go further investigate it, but that is not going to be a preliminary hearing type question." R. 55:28-29 (Emphasis added).

The Circuit Court throughout the preliminary hearing specifically stated that Smogoleski's counsel was asking

questions reserved for trial and not a preliminary hearing.

Again, it is not the number of questions asked, it is the content of those questions and whether they provided

Smogoleski with an opportunity be afforded the same right of confrontation at the preliminary hearing that he would have been afforded if he had gone to trial.

Finally, the Circuit Court issued a comprehensively researched and reasoned written decision which explained its application of the legal standards to case at bar. R. 43. The State provides nothing in this appeal that should convince this Court that the Circuit Court was wrong in application of the law, its legal reasoning or its discretionary authority.

One further specific objection the State addresses in its brief is the ability of Smogoleski's counsel to question Jon about statements made to him by the victim, Emily. Appellant Br. at 20-21. The State argues that this line of questioning would be inadmissible at trial as hearsay; however, that is not true. The admission of those statements would be discretionary to the trial court at the time of trial. Those statements could have been admitted as either an excited utterance, Wis. Stat. \$908.03(2) or (3), or as an admission by a party/opponent. Wis. Stat.

\$908.01(4)(b)1. See State v. Patino, 177 Wis. 2d 348, 502 N.W.2d 601 (Ct. App. 1993).

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY RULED THAT THE STATE'S PROFERRED "OTHER ACTS" EVIDENCE WAS NOT ADMISSIBLE AT TRIAL.

The State disagrees with the Circuit Court's determination that the probative value of the proffered evidence did not outweigh the prejudice to Smogoleski if admitted at trial. In fact, the State admits in its brief that admission of its other acts evidence will "require a liberal application of the Sullivan other-acts test." Appellant Br. at 29. For this, the State argues that the greater latitude test should apply in this case. The State argues that the Circuit Court applied the wrong legal standard and did not apply the greater latitude rule which is a misinterpretation of the Circuit Court's words. the State contends that the other-acts evidence it wished to admit was similar in nature to the charged offense against Smogoleski, the State fails to point out there was little support for the verification of the other-acts and the fact that those acts were not reported until 15 months after they allegedly occurred.

It is important to point out that great deference should be given to the Circuit Court's ruling in regard to

the admission or exclusion of other-acts evidence. As stated in State v. Dorsey, 2018 WI 10, 379 Wis. 2d 386, 906 N.W.2d 158 the analysis of the admission or exclusion of other-acts evidence "begins with the understanding that the circuit court's decisions to admit or exclude evidence are entitled to great deference. State v. Jackson, 2014 WI 4, 352 Wis. 2d 249, ¶45, 841 N.W.2d 791. We will uphold a circuit court's evidentiary ruling if it 'examined the relevant facts, applied a proper standard of law, used a demonstrated rational process and reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach.' State v. Hurley, 2015 WI 35, 361 Wis. 2d 529, ¶28, 861 N.W.2d 174."

Despite the contention of the State, the Circuit Court did exactly what the law requires. In its decision, the Circuit Court stated that, in addition to the oral arguments presented by the parties during the motion hearing, it reviewed the written submissions of the parties' arguments that were filed prior to the hearing, it reviewed all of the cases that were cited/relevant, and it reviewed the criminal complaint.

The Circuit Court's issue was the third prong of Sullivan and whether the probative value of the other-acts evidence outweighed the prejudice to Smogoleski. In

addressing the third prong, the Circuit Court stated "[s]o some of the things that the Court looked at, obviously the uncharged nature of this alleged other bad act in *State v*.

Gray states that other acts evidence may consist of uncharged offenses. And then under 904.04(2), other acts evidence is relevant if a reasonable jury can find by a preponderance of the evidence that the Defendant committed the other act." R. 58:28.

The Circuit Court also addressed the greater latitude test which the State claims was not properly applied. The Circuit Court, however, did have some questions about the application, but ultimately stated that it applied the test in its analysis. R. 58:28-29.

Finally, the Circuit Court stated its specific concerns and why it ruled the other-acts evidence was not admissible. "After reviewing all of the information, the Court has extreme concern that the probative value would not substantially outweigh the prejudice, the danger of prejudicial effect to the Defendant and does believe that this other bad act information could also mislead the jury. It is, in essence, a trial within a trial, even with a different standard of proof." R. 58:29.

Conclusion

For the herein stated arguments, Smogoleski respectfully requests that the Court find that the circuit court did not err in (1) excluding the preliminary hearing testimony of Jon and (2) excluding the other-acts evidence the State sought to have introduced at trial.